
 
 

 

 
 
 
 

Please note that by law this meeting can be filmed, audio-
recorded, photographed or reported electronically by the use 
of social media by anyone attending.  This does not apply to 
any part of the meeting that is held in private session. 

Please ask for: 
Clair Francis 

 
* Reporting to Cabinet 

17 January 2023 
 
Dear Councillor 
 

You are requested to attend a meeting of the WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING PANEL to be held on Thursday 26 January 2023 at 7.30pm in the 
Council Chamber. 

 

 
Yours faithfully 

 
Governance Services Manager 
 

A G E N D A 
PART 1 

 

1.   SUBSTITUTIONS AND APOLOGIES  
 

 To note any substitution of Panel Members in accordance with Council Procedure 
Rules. 
 

2.   MINUTES  
 

 To confirm as a correct record the Minutes of the meeting held on 24 October 2022 
(previously circulated).  
 

3.   NOTIFICATION OF URGENT BUSINESS TO BE CONSIDERED UNDER ITEM 12  
 

4.   DECLARATIONS OF INTEREST  
 

 To note declarations of Members’ disclosable pecuniary interests, non-disclosable 
pecuniary interests and non-pecuniary interests in respect of items on this agenda.  
 

5.   PUBLIC QUESTION TIME AND PETITIONS  
 

 Up to thirty minutes will be made available for questions from members of the 
public on issues relating to the work of the Committee and to receive any petitions. 
 
 
 

Public Document Pack



6.   EMPTY HOMES POLICY (Pages 5 - 26) 
 

 Report of the Service Director (Resident and Neighbourhood). 
 

7.   UPDATE ON CURRENT AFFORDABLE HOUSING PROGRAMME  
 

 Presentation from Officers. 
 

8.   PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR HOUSING Q2 (KPIS) (Pages 27 - 30) 
 

 Report of the Service Director (Property Maintenance and Climate Change). 
 

9.   COMPLIANCE UPDATE (Pages 31 - 38) 
 

 Report of the Service Director (Property Maintenance and Climate Change). 
 

10.   WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23 (Pages 39 - 40) 
 

 The pro-forma which sets out the Panel’s work programme has been updated 
since the last meeting to enable forward planning of items to be considered to take 
place.  
 

11.   NOW HOUSING UPDATE (Pages 41 - 48) 
 

 Report of the Executive Director (Finance and Transformation). 
 

12.   SUCH OTHER BUSINESS AS, IN THE OPINION OF THE CHAIRMAN, IS OF 
SUFFICIENT URGENCY TO WARRANT IMMEDIATE CONSIDERATION  
 

13.   EXCLUSION OF THE PRESS AND PUBLIC  
 

 The Panel is asked to resolve: 
 
That under Section 100(A)(2) and (4) of the Local Government Act 1972, the press 
and public be now excluded from the meeting for item 14 on the grounds that it 
involves the likely disclosure of confidential or exempt information as defined in 
Section 100A(3) and Paragraph 4 (consultations or negotiations relating to labour 
relations) of Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the said Act (as amended).  
 
In resolving to exclude the public in respect of the exempt information, it is 
considered that the public interest in maintaining the exemption outweighs the 
public interest in disclosing the information.  
 

PART II 

14.   ANY OTHER BUSINESS OF AN EXEMPT NATURE AT THE DISCRETION OF 
THE CHAIRMAN  
 

 
Circulation: Councillors J.Cragg (Chairman) 

F.Thomson (Vice-Chairman) 
M.Birleson 
L.Crofton 
D.Jones 
R.Lass 

G.Moore 
T.Rowse 
T.Travell 
S.Tunstall 
R.Trigg 
 



 
 

 Co-opted Members:- 
Tenants’ Panel Representatives 
 

Chris Andrews 
Adita McHugh 
 
Independent Representatives 
 

R.Paris   
 
 Senior Leadership Team 

Press and Public (except Part II Items) 
 
If you require any further information about this agenda please contact  
Clair Francis, Governance Services  
01707 357468 or democracy@welhat.gov.uk  
 

mailto:democracy@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



- 1 - 

Part I 
Main author: Jo Smith 
Executive Member: Cllr Fiona Thomson 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING PANEL 26 JANUARY 2023 
REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR (RESIDENT AND NEIGHBOURHOOD)  

REPORT ON THE PROPOSED EMPTY HOMES POLICY 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to consider the draft Empty Homes Policy (Appendix 
A) for wider public consultation. 

1.2 The Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities (DLUHC) is the 
department responsible for shaping housing policy in England and it is up to 
individual District and Borough Councils to formulate and implement their own 
policies to deal with empty homes. 

1.3 Empty properties are considered a waste of housing resource at both national and 
local levels. The government’s National Planning Policy Framework (2021) 
confirms that local authorities should ‘identify and bring back into residential use 
empty homes and buildings, supported by the use the powers contained within the 
Policy”. 

1.4 The council’s proposed Empty Homes Policy firmly aligns with the council’s 
Housing Strategy and aims to unlock the potential of vacant sites and empty 
homes; thereby contributing towards meeting local housing supply needs. Empty 
homes can have a negative impact on the local community and in some 
circumstances may be the subject of multiple concerns such as anti-social 
behaviour and dilapidation including structural repair, nuisance, as well as 
unauthorised entry. Bringing these properties back into use can not only deal with 
the issues outlined above but can also bring assistance to the owner who may not 
have known what to do with the property. 

1.5 Where possible the council will always engage with a private owner to encourage 
a voluntary solution for bringing a property back into use. However, there are some 
instances where this is not possible, for example where the council is unable to 
identify owners; there might be issues in relation to probate, where known owners 
refuse to engage with the council or planning restrictions and issues. 

1.6 In order for these more complex and contentious cases to be progressed a robust 
policy is required so that there is a graduated approach towards more formal action 
in accordance with the Council’s Corporate Enforcement Policy. This draft Empty 
Homes policy clearly sets out the formal action the council can take in order to 
obtain a resolution to ongoing issues as a result of the property being a long-term 
empty property.  

1.7 The proposed policy is attached at Appendix A. 

 

 

 

 

Page 5

Agenda Item 6

https://www.welhat.gov.uk/policies/corporate-enforcement/1


- 2 - 

2.0 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That members recommend approving the draft Empty Homes Policy to go out to 
public consultation.  

2.2 That the draft empty homes policy will be presented again to Cabinet Housing 
Panel for consideration following the public consultation.  

 
3.0  Explanation 

3.1 The private residential empty property figures for the district as of 10th December 
2022 are: 

Second Homes (furnished) 362 

6-24 Months 178 

24 months+  113 

Uninhabitable 4 

Empty/Unoccupied < 3 months 304 

TOTAL 961 

 

3.2 The council is committed to improving standards in the private rented sector. 
Working with property owners to improve their properties through both informal 
and formal action will enable the Council to utilise additional legislative powers in 
driving up standards within the Private Housing Stock. 

3.3 This policy gives due regard to the non-statutory guidance issued by the 
Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities and Local Government, 
which sets an expectation that Local Authorities should take all available actions 
open to them when dealing with Empty Properties.  

3.4 Welwyn Hatfield does not suffer the same problems as urban areas that have high 
levels of empty homes in particular hotspots that can lead to a haven for crime, 
vandalism, anti-social behaviour, and squatting. The issue of empty homes within 
the Borough is more about the lack of housing available rather than empty homes 
being problematic, although there are a few properties that are cause for concern.  

3.5 We will always try to work with owners to resolve issues rather than resorting to 
enforcement action where possible. Where properties are being well looked after, 
council tax paid and are not causing a particular nuisance or harm, the Council has 
very little powers to bring a property back into use. 

3.6 Considerable success has been achieved through the use of informal negotiation, 
advice, persuasion and enforcement powers. Where enforcement is needed, there 
is now greater emphasis on the use of Empty Dwelling Management Order 
(EDMO) powers and Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPO) to achieve the Council’s 
aims. EDMO and CPO powers are a clear and demonstrable enforcement tool 
available to the Council to help ensure empty homes are returned to use. 

3.7 In terms of incentives, the issue of grants or loans were considered. Welwyn 
Hatfield Borough Council has in the past issued grants to the owners of empty 
homes to bring them back into use. However, these were considered not to be 

Page 6



- 3 - 

effective. This was mainly because owners of properties can obtain bank loans 
with a low interest rate, and also the conditions in place as part of the loan (the 
property needing to be rented out at the Local Housing Allowance rate and to 
applicants on the Council housing register) were felt to be restrictive.  

Implications 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

4.1 Having a policy in place allows the officers to be able to utilise certain provisions 
in the Housing Act 2004 – namely Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs), 
when this is considered to be the best course of action. Work will be required to 
develop administrative and legal procedures for applying to the First Tier Tribunal 
for EDMO’s. 

4.2 The Council’s powers and duties in relation to enforcement are contained within 
various statutes including the Housing Act 1985, the Housing Act 2004, the Law of 
Property Act 1925 and the Acquisition of Land Act 1981. In cases where 
enforcement action is required, advice and input from Legal Services is sought. 

4.3 Whilst there is no statutory duty to produce an empty homes policy, and Welwyn 
Hatfield does not have an extensive empty homes problem, the lack of a formally 
adopted policy can constrain making decisions on the best course of action to take. 

5 Financial Implication(s) 

5.1 The council charges premiums on some empty properties. A reduction to empty 
properties will reduce the premiums charged. However, empty properties brought 
back into use currently attract New Homes Bonus Grant which would offset the 
reduction to premiums for one year, whist the New Homes Bonus Scheme is in 
place.  

5.2 The Government has announced its intention to change legislation on second and 
empty homes, allowing premiums to be charged on second homes. This will be 
returned for consideration at a later date, when legislation has been approved.  

5.3 Dependant on the route of enforcement, there may be resourcing or legal costs, 
and these will be considered on a case-by-case basis as enforcement action is 
considered for empty properties.   

6 Risk Management Implications 

The main risks related to this proposal are: 

6.1 Failure to act on Empty Properties that are causing issues within the local area can 
result in antisocial behaviour and deterioration of the neighbourhood which could 
reflect badly on the council, and our reputation may be affected as a result.  

6.2 Application to the First-tier Tribunal has a financial impact in terms of the Legal 
team’s staffing resources, possible fees and cost orders against the Council. 
However, given the likely frequency of making such an application and the robust 
assessment of evidence that takes place, the risk is anticipated to be low.  

6.3 Any applications for Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs) could result 
in the council having to pay for the recuperation of funding through the EDMO as 
the Council will become the Landlord of the property.   

Page 7



- 4 - 

 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 

7.1 None noted 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 

8.1 None noted 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 

9.1 None noted.  

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 

10.1 The Policy would be applied using existing staff resources.  

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

11.1 Empty homes work improves the local area and neighbours’ lives by not having a 
blighted property in the area. 

11.2 There will be positive community safety implications because empty properties 
brought back into use will reduce likely associated anti-social behaviour and 
vandalism at or near the properties 

11.3 Tackling poor an unsafe housing conditions in the Private Rented Sector will 
contribute towards the Council’s vision of health of the residents of WHBC. 
Housing is a determinant of health, and in order to ensure that each resident of 
WHBC has an equal life chance, and a life expectancy to reflect that of the national 
average the Council needs utilise all legal and enforcement options available to 
drive standards up within the Private Housing Sector. 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 

12.1 Members of the relevant Council teams will be made aware of the Policy, the 
Empty Homes Working Group will be formalised, and the Policy will be made 
available to members of the public on the Council’s website. 

12.2 There is currently no legal requirement to formally consult. However, it is good 
practice to do so. Consultation will be communicated to residents of the Borough 
and landlords/letting agents for a period of one month, using social media and 
our website. It is the intention for the public to complete the consultation online 
on the Council’s website, and making hard copies of the consultation available 
for those that request them.  

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priorities ‘A sense of 
Community where people feel safe’ and ‘quality homes through managed growth 
specifically to the commitment ‘we will provide high quality housing, thriving 
neighbourhoods and sustainable communities’. 

14 Equality and Diversity 

14.1 A predictive Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) has been undertaken.  

14.2 It is envisaged that this Policy will not have any negative implications on protected 
characteristics in the Equality Act, 2010. Equality issues will be taken into account 
prior to any enforcement actions.  

Page 8



- 5 - 

14.3 The EqIA will be reviewed again following the public consultation and updated as 
needed based on any feedback received. 

 

Name of author Jo Smith  
Title Private Sector Housing Manager 
Date 16 December 2022 
 
 
 
Appendices to be listed: 

• Appendix A: Draft Empty Homes Policy 

 

           

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



Empty Homes Policy [draft] 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough 

Council 
  

Page 11



1.0 Introduction  

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council (the Council or council) has not previously had an empty homes 
policy. Historically the number of long-term empty homes in the borough has been considered to be 
relatively low and those that are empty have on the whole been well maintained. Therefore, the need 
for a strategy has not been deemed necessary.  

We have however kept the situation under review, and whilst the number of empty homes reported 
has only increased slightly, since the Covid pandemic more neglectful conditions are apparent and 
engaging with some owners more difficult.  

Not only are empty homes a wasted resource, particularly when considered against the need for 
housing, when these long-term vacant dwellings are neglected they can have an adverse impact on 
the local community. In order to take some of the enforcement measures necessary, it is 
recommended that the council develop and publish an empty homes policy. 
 
This policy document explains the council’s approach to empty homes in the borough. It also sets out 
the measures the authority can employ to address those empty homes that are having a detrimental 
impact on the community and bring them back into use to help meet local housing need. This Policy 
is primarily focussing on privately owned empty homes that are long term empty.  This policy does not 
include council housing properties. 

2.0 Empty Homes 

The council’s definition of an empty home for the purpose of this policy, means homes that have been 
empty for at least 6 months, but with the main focus on longer-term empty homes that have been 
empty for two years.  

These two-year empty homes have not come back into use with the normal operation of the housing 
market and if they present a problem, they are likely to need support or intervention. However, we 
maintain an interest and oversight of all empty properties in the district, including second homes and 
furnished empty homes. 

2.0 Strategic Links and Council Priorities 
 
Under the ‘QUALITY HOMES THROUGH MANAGED GROWTH’ corporate priority in the Council’s 
2021-2024 Business Plan; bringing empty homes back into use is a part of the ambition to  
 Deliver more affordable homes to meet local housing need 
 Provide high quality housing, thriving neighbourhoods and sustainable communities 

We need to deliver sustainable housing growth to meet the current and emerging needs of all our 
communities. 
 
The overall aim of the policy is to enable us to use the powers available to us: 

• to tackle owners who fail to maintain their empty homes and pose detriment to the 
community 

• reducing the number of empty properties across the Borough wherever possible 
• increase the supply of available housing to help meet housing need  

 
[Note: It is important to note that Government policy does not allow the reduction of empty 
properties to be counted as a contributor to meeting the borough's housing targets, although they 
do count towards attracting funding under the New Homes Bonus grant]. 

 
3.0 Problems caused by Empty Properties 

Page 12



 
Empty properties can have a detrimental impact on communities and the local environment. Whilst 
it is not illegal to keep a property empty it can be an expensive option. The longer a property lies 
empty, the more it will deteriorate. Some of the most common problems associated with empty 
properties include: 

• Wasted asset that costs the owner money to maintain/leave empty 
• Vandalism/arson/anti-social behaviour 
• Blight on local communities and general loss of value affecting neighbouring property values 
• Urban deprivation of inner areas accelerating population loss 
• Loss of community as permanent homeowners move out and are replaced by passing 

tenants 
• Deterioration leading to dangerous and dilapidated structures which can be a danger to the 

public and/or cause damage to neighbouring properties 
• Fly tipping/dumping/overgrown land and gardens 
• Problems due to vermin infiltration 
• Illegal squatting 
• Time and money costs to both the Council and the emergency services 

4.0 Benefits of bringing empty properties back into use and enabling housing growth 

There are many financial, environmental, social and economic benefits of bringing disused 
residential properties back into use. These include: 

• Attractive neighbourhoods and economic vitality which can increase spend and boost the 
local economy 

• An increased supply of available housing to help meet housing need and reduce 
homelessness and the need for temporary accommodation 

• Making best use of existing housing stock 
• Increased revenue and new homes bonus income 
• Increased income for owners who rent or sell their empty properties 
• Reduced crime and anti-social behaviour and the fear of crime through improvements to 

homes and buildings to create safer communities and attractive neighbourhoods 
• Improving homes and buildings to modern standards using the latest low carbon technology 
• Enhancing the vitality of town centres and promoting economic growth by bringing town 

centre homes and buildings back into use 
• Improving the visual impact of neighbourhoods to boost wellbeing, create pride in the 

community and reduce demand on public services 
• Supporting the Council's commitment to tackling threats to public health which are 

sometimes linked to empty properties such as fly-tipping, vandalism and anti-social 
behaviour. 

5.0 The Empty Homes Context in Welwyn Hatfield Borough  
 
The situation with empty homes is never static as homes are brought back into use and other homes 
become empty or remain empty for longer periods of time. Government empty homes data released 
in November 2021 showed that in England there were 237,340 homes registered as long-term 
empty. This was a decrease of over 31,000 from the previous year which had also seen the first rise 
in the number of empty homes since 2016.  
 
At the current time (December 2022), in Welwyn Hatfield there are: 

Page 13



• 961 empty private sector homes of which;  
• 362 are empty but furnished (2nd homes)  
• 304 have been empty/unoccupied for up to 3 months 
• 178 dwellings have been empty for between 6 months and 2 years  
• 113 have been long term empty for 2 years or more 
• 4 are uninhabitable 

 
In addition, there are empty properties that are not targeted for action to be brought back into use. 
Those owned by the Ministry of Defence and the Crown are exempt under legislation and derelict 
properties that have been removed from the Valuation Office residential list and are no longer a 
dwelling (however other enforcement action may be taken on these if dangerous, infested etc). The 
majority of empty homes that have been empty for 6 months or less come back into use within that 
period of time due to the normal operation of the housing market so are not a priority under this 
policy for the Council. The Council focuses on properties that are long term empty of 2 years or more 
which are not likely to come back into use without support. With the use of this policy, we aim to 
successfully reduce the levels of 2 year plus long term empty properties. 
 
6.0 Our approach to bringing Empty Properties back into use.  
 
The Council, in collaboration with partners and empty property owners, commits to using the 
powers available to tackle long term empty homes that are unsafe or are presenting a significant 
problem to neighbours or the local community. This may involve the Council purchasing, 
refurbishing, or managing, empty properties back into use as affordable homes.  
 
6.1 Informal intervention/support to bring properties back into use  
 
Empty property owners are not always aware of the support the Council can offer them, or the 
environmental and financial consequences of leaving their properties empty. The Council has a duty 
to provide information, guidance and general support to owners of empty properties. Through this 
support, many empty properties can be returned to use. Options include, for example: 
 
• Refurbishing and re-occupying the property 
• Letting the property themselves as landlord or through a letting/management agent 
• Selling the property through an estate agent or via auction 
• Selling the property to an investor 
• Leasing the property to a private individual, property developer or registered provider 
 
The Council is committed to preventing properties from becoming empty for prolonged periods 
where they can. Properties left empty in excess of two years will automatically be charged double 
the rate of Council Tax. If an empty property is brought to our attention, we will contact the owner 
to ascertain their intentions and offer advice and guidance to bring the home back into use. Our 
Housing options team will work with any owners who want to / or can be persuaded to rent out 
their property by providing it to a tenant that is in housing need. We organise landlord events and 
forums publicising a range of incentives and disincentives of empty homes and the public can report 
problematic empty properties in their neighbourhoods to us.  
 
The Government is proposing new legislation on increasing Council Tax on second homes. The 
council will consider implementing a premium on second homes if the legislation is approved.  
 

Page 14



Supporting owners to sell or let their empty properties is a key component in the reduction of empty 
properties across the borough. However, this has a cost implication and the council does not have 
the means to offer empty property grants and/or loans to residents to encourage restoration. 
 
6.2 Council Departments involved in preventing and tackling long term empty homes 
 
These include:  

• Private Sector Housing  
• Housing Options 
• Housing Needs  
• Planning Enforcement Planning and Planning Conservation  
• Environmental Health  
• Building Control  
• Council Tax 
• Community Safety 
• Elected Members 
• Housing Development  
 

Other officers may be needed as cases develop. These may include: 
• Legal Services 
• Property Services  

 
External partners might be needed, such as the Police, to assist the Council with investigations or to 
support enforcement action the Council might take. 
 
6.3 Enforcement and other formal interventions 
 

6.3.1 Formal Intervention 
 
Formal intervention has not been previously needed in our borough and the council is keen 
to avoid enforcement action where possible preferring to encourage and support empty 
homes back into use voluntarily. However, this is starting to change as a small number of 
properties have become neglected and the owners un-willing to engage. We suspect this 
could be as a result of the Covid pandemic and the ongoing cost of living crisis, and if this is 
the case we could see more empty and second homes suffer neglect. If an owner is unwilling 
to co-operate and their empty property is causing concerns in the neighbourhood, the 
Council may consider enforcement action, which could result in them losing ownership of 
the property. Enforcement action can include but is not limited to: 
 
• Improvement Notices to ensure any necessary remedial works are undertaken as and 

when required 
• Securing empty residential or commercial premises to protect the public and prevent 

unauthorised access and acts of crime (Local Government Miscellaneous Provisions Act 
1982) 

• Abatement Notices to ensure owners improve properties that are causing a statutory 
nuisance, for example a defective roof that is causing damp to a neighbouring 
property (Environmental Protection Act 1990) 

• Action to improve the appearance of a property if it is considered to be detrimental to 
the amenity of an area under section 215 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 

Page 15



• Community Protection Warnings and Notices to prevent unreasonable behaviours that 
have a negative impact on local communities (Anti-Social Behaviour, Crime and Policing 
Act 2014). 

 
6.3.2 Acquisition of property 

 
In some circumstances, it may be necessary for the Council to consider long-term 
enforcement solutions for problematic empty properties including: 
• Enforced sale (Law of Property Act 1925) - the Council may enforce the sale of a private 

property to recover outstanding debts secured against the property (excludes council 
tax debt). 

• Empty Dwelling Management Orders (Housing Act 2004) enable local authorities or 
nominated parties, usually registered providers, to take over the management of an 
empty property for up to 7 years and rent it out to people in housing need. Renovation 
costs to improve the property can be reimbursed through rental income.  

• Compulsory Purchase Orders (CPOs)can be used by local authorities as a last resort 
where all other options have failed. CPOs give local authorities the power, where 
justified, to acquire land or property including empty properties that are causing a 
statutory nuisance with or without the owner's consent, to prevent further decline 

 
A full list of available powers and legislation can be found at Appendix B 
 
 
7.0 Resourcing 
 
7.1 The Government currently provides incentives to local authorities to increase housing supply 

through the New Homes Bonus scheme, although there is uncertainty about the 
continuation of this scheme in future years. For each long-term empty home brought back 
into use councils receive a financial reward. The bonus is based on achieving a net reduction 
in the number of long-term empty homes each year. An additional bonus is paid if the 
dwellings are returned to use as affordable homes. 

 
 

Page 16



Appendix B – List of Legislation  
 
The Housing Act 1985  
This Act empowers local authorities to acquire land, houses or other properties from private 
individuals, for the provision of housing accommodation. The acquisition must be shown to have a 
quantitative or qualitative housing gain. This power can be used to compulsory purchase empty 
homes.  
 
A number of pieces of legislation supports this power including:  

• Compulsory Purchase Act 1965 – to serve a Notice to Treat to acquire the property and post 
confirmation procedure.  This procedure is normally used if the local authority is developing 
the land itself and needs to commence work on site immediately following confirmation of 
the compulsory purchase order,   

 
• The Compulsory Purchase (vesting declarations) Act 1981 – to make a General Vesting 

Declaration under to acquire all necessary interests in the land and property included in the 
confirmed Compulsory Purchase order.  This procedure is mainly utilised in circumstances 
where the acquiring authority intends to sell the CPO land for development by a third party 
under a development agreement and therefore needs to acquire title to the land rather than 
simply to obtain possession,   

 
• Acquisition of Land Act 1981 - compulsory purchase procedure,   
 
• Land Compensation Act 1961 - amount and assessment of compensation.   

 
The Housing Act 2004  
The Housing Act (HA) 2004 provides a number of options for a local authority to take action to bring 
an empty home back in to use. This includes:  

• Improvement Notice (s11)  
• Prohibition Order (s20)  
• Hazard Awareness Notice (s28)  
• Emergency Remedial Action (s40)  
• Emergency Prohibition Order (s43)  
• Demolition Order (s265 1985 Act as amended)  
• Clearance Area (s289 1985 Act as amended)  

 
The HA 2004 also granted local authorities a powerful tool for returning empty homes into 
occupation - Empty Dwelling Management Orders (EDMOs). EDMOs can enable local authorities to 
let out empty homes for up to 7 years, without the consent of the owner. The local authority will be 
able to carry out repair works on the property and recover their costs from the rental income. If, 
however, the repair works are significant, the costs may not be able to be recovered during the 
maximum 7 year rental period. In this case, an EDMO would not be feasible. Consequently, analysis 
of all costs has to be undertaken before an EDMO should be applied for.  
 
Building Act 1984  
Sections 77 to 79 can be used to require the owner of a dilapidated and/or dangerous building to 
undertake remedial work for and sites or in emergency situations the local authority can carry out 
the works and later recover the costs of the works from the owner.  
 
 
 

Page 17



Town & Country Planning Act 1990  
This legislation can be used to gain entry to or dispose of a property or detrimental to the amenity of 
the area. 
 
Environmental Protection Act 1990  
Section 79 to 81 applies where a premises causes a health risk or nuisance and repair work is 
required to make it safe.  
 
Prevention of Damage by Pest Act 1949  
Section 4 might be used to serve a notice on the owner or occupier requiring reasonable steps to be 
taken to destroy rats and mice on the land.  
 
Local Government (Miscellaneous Provisions) Act 1982  
Section 29 is used where a property is not effectively secured against unauthorised entry or is likely 
to become a danger to public health. The local authority may undertake works to prevent 
unauthorised entry to the building or prevent it becoming a danger to public health.  
This legislation may also be used to request information from the owners of properties and anyone 
(including companies) who have an interest in the property.  
 
Anti-social Behaviour, Crime and Policing Act 2014  
Local authorities can serve notices on owners of empty properties that are in a poor condition.  
 
Public Health Act 1961  
Section 34 allows local authorities to serve notice on an owner to remove a nuisance or gives local 
authority power to do so in the default of the owner.  
 
The Local Government Act 2003  
The Local Government Act 2003 has introduced the ability for local authorities to limit the reduction 
of council tax on holiday / second homes to 10%, reduce other empty property discounts and vary 
the discount exemption classes. The Act also enables councils to share council tax data between 
departments to make empty homes strategies more effective.  
 
Local Land Charges Act 1975  
Where an Owner has not complied with certain Statutory Notices, the local authority may undertake 
works in default of a Notice and recharge the cost of the works to the Owner.  
This debt may be registered as a Local Land Charge.  
 
Law of Property Act 1925  
Where there is a financial Charge registered in Part 2 of the Local Land Charges Register, a Local 
Authority has the power to enforce that Charge via the Enforced Sale Procedure.  
The power to carry out an enforced sale is within the Law of Property Act 1925. This is essentially a 
method of debt recovery and a measure of last resort; however, it can be used as a tool for 
regeneration in certain circumstances. Section 20 of the Limitations Act 1980 sets out that enforced 
sales action must be taken within 12 years of the right to receive the money arising.  
 
Human Rights Act 1998  
When deciding whether to go forward with an Enforced Sale Procedure or Compulsory Purchase 
Order, consideration must be given to the Human Rights Act 1998. In particular, selling property 
belonging to a third party engages Article 8 of the Act, namely ‘the right to respect for …. private and 
family life ..., home and … correspondence.’ Also, Article 1 of Protocol 1 is also engaged, namely ‘ ... 
the peaceful enjoyment of possessions ...’ Therefore, interference is only permitted if such action is 

Page 18



considered proportionate. The individual’s property rights have to be balanced against the general 
benefits to the community if the property were to be brought back into use.  
 
  

Page 19



Flowchart of identification to action  
 

Identification from Council Tax records or referral

Visit and send owner empty homes letter/s.16 if 
owner not known

Questionnaire/s.16 
returned

Questionnaire/s.16 
not returned

Consider legal 
action for s.16

Willing to return 
property into use? 

Not willing to 
return property into 

use

Concerns Identified 
from visit or 

complaints recieved
Maintain contact with owner 

and assist in returning property 
to use 

Monitor 
property 

complaints/
condition

Would property 
meet Enforcement 

threshold?

Prioritise Property – Consider enforcement 
powers and multi-agency working. 

 

Page 20



24.07.18 
 

 
Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council 

 
Equality Impact Assessment 

Assessment completed by: Jo Smith 

Name of policy/project/ 
service to be assessed 

 
 
Empty Homes Policy 
 
 

 
At what stage of 
consultation has this EqIA 
been prepared? 
 

 
Pre consultation      ☒ 
Post consultation  ☐ 
No consultation required ☐ 
 

Method of analysis 
undertaken and dates 

 
Managers – desktop screening ☒         Date:10/1/2023 
Employee Forum ☐ Date: 
Stakeholder review ☐ Date:  
 

Who does the policy or 
service affect? 
 

 
Customers (public)          ☒ 
Internal (staff/Members)   ☒ 
External (partners/contractors/agencies) ☒ 
Other     ☐ 
 

What are the aims/ 
objectives/purpose or 
outcome or intended 
effects of the policy, 
project or service? 

The Housing Act 2004 brought about additional powers for 
Local Authorities to bring empty properties into use through the 
promotion of Empty Dwelling Management Orders. Used as an 
alternative to compulsory purchase, it enables the local 
authority to:  
 
• Raise public awareness of Empty Homes and the 

importance of reporting them to the Council.  
• Be proactive through enforcement action where owners 

are unable or unwilling to return property to use, in line with 
the Councils enforcement policy 

• Maximise the potential of empty homes. 
• Increasing the availability of affordable housing. 
 
 

What equality data is 
available relating to the 
use or implementation of 

 
None 

Page 21



24.07.18 
 

the policy, project or 
service? 

 
What consultation has 
taken place in the 
development or review of 
the policy, project or 
service? 

 
The wording of the Policy has been discussed  
and agreed with by Housing Team Leaders, Legal Services 
and Finance.  
 
Public consultation will be undertaken and the EQIA reviewed 
and updated as needed following any feedback relating to 
equalities that is received. 
 
 

Page 22



24.07.18 
 

 

Does the policy have a positive or negative impact on any of the following Protected Characteristic groups covered by the Equality Act 
2010? 

 Positive 
 

Negative 
 

Neutral 
 

Evidence & Comments 

 
Age 
 
 

 
☒ 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☐ 
 

minor positive impacts across all age ranges as improvements in housing 
stock and using empty homes are of a benefit to all ages.  

 
Disability 
 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☒ 
 

 

 
Ethnicity 
 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☒ 
 

 

 
Gender re-
assignment 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☒ 
 

 

 
Marriage/Civil 
partnership 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☒ 
 

 

 
Pregnancy & 
Maternity 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☒ 
 

 

 Positive Negative Neutral Evidence & Comments 

P
age 23



24.07.18 
 

   
 
Religion or belief 
 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☒ 
 

 

 
Sex 
 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☒ 
 

 

 
Sexual orientation 
 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☐ 
 

 
☒ 
 

 

 

Equality Impact Assessment Outcome: 

Low risk ☒   

 Medium risk ☐   

 High risk ☐   

 

Any other comments: 

The Policy will provide the council with additional enforcement powers to deal with home owners whose empty properties are causing 

a detrimental effect on the residents nearby. It is not envisaged that implementation of the Policy will discriminate against any 

disadvantaged or vulnerable people and is likely to have a positive impact on making empty homes available again. There may be 

impacts on the owners of empty homes whom might have protected characteristics if enforcement action is taken. However, the 

P
age 24



24.07.18 
 

Council has to weigh up the overall interests of public need as against the human rights and equalities implicaations of private 

property rights and to consider whether sufficient justification exists.  

For Steering Group use only: 

Comments:  

P
age 25



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Classification: Unrestricted  

Main author: Ian Hancock  
Executive Member: Cllr Fiona Thomson 
Wards: All 

 

WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL  
CABINET HOUSING PANEL – 26 JANUARY 2023  
REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR (PROPERTY MAINTENANCE AND CLIMATE CHANGE) 

 

PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR HOUSING PERIOD QUARTER TWO 2022/23 
 

1 Executive Summary 
 

1.1 The attached report provides a summary of the strategic Key Performance Indicators (KPIs), 
and comments about performance by exception. The KPIs are monitored quarterly by the 
Strategic Management Team and Cabinet members at the council’s performance clinic 
meetings. 

 

1.2 The report is the quarter two performance report for the year 2022/23. 
 

2 Recommendation(s) 
 

2.1 It is recommended that the Panel note the contents of the attached report. 
 

3 Explanation 
 

3.1 The KPIs being reported, as shown in Appendix A, are the corporate KPI’s published in the 
council’s Action Plan for 2022/23. 

 

3.2 The report shows the results for each KPI and how performance compares against target and 
tolerance. Each result is assessed and highlighted either as red, amber or green. 

 

3.3 The report also includes comments for all KPIs. 
 

Implications 
 

4 Legal Implication(s) 
 

4.1 All controls are in place to manage legal implications. 
 

5 Financial Implication(s) 
 

5.1 There are no new financial implications as a result of this report. 
 

6 Risk Management Implication(s) 
 

6.1 No new risks identified. All controls are in place. 
 

7 Security and Terrorism Implication(s) 
 

7.1 There are no security and terrorism implications arising from this report 
 

8 Procurement Implication(s) 
 

8.1 There are no procurement implications arising from this report. 

Page 27

Agenda Item 8



Classification: Unrestricted 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

9 Climate Change Implication(s) 
 

9.1 The Decent Homes standard for council housing stock and private sector housing directly 
affect climate change and are monitored within these KPIs. 

 

10 Human Resources Implication(s) 
 

10.1 There are no human resources implications arising from this report 
 

11 Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 
 

11.1 Several of the KPI’s impact on the wellbeing of housing applicants, Lifeline customers and 
tenants. 

 

12 Communication and Engagement Implication(s) 
 

12.1 Performance information is available to the Tenants Panel to be used to identify areas of 
scrutiny by the Panel. 

 

13 Link to Corporate Priorities 
 

13.1 Each of the KPIs is a corporate published KPI and include the corresponding reference 
used for performance clinic reports. 

 

14 Equality and Diversity 
 

14.1 An Equality Impact Assessment (EIA) has not been carried out in connection with the 
proposals that are set out in this report as the recommendation does not require a policy or 
service change. 

 
 
Name of authors: Ian Hancock/Chris Barnes/Sue McDaid  
Titles: Service Director (Property Maintenance and Climate Change) 
 Executive Director (Place)  
 Service Director (Resident and Neighbourhood) 
Date 9 January 2023 

 
 

 
Appendices: 

 
Appendix A – CHP Performance Report – Q2, 2022/23 

 

Page 28



BusinessUnit

 

KPI Description Latest Note Target Q1 Q2 YTD Last
Year

Housing
Needs/Options



BPI 29

BPI 63
BPI 65

BPI 80

BPI 89

Income and
Home
ownership



BPI 35

BPI 87

Neighbour and
Enforcement



BPI 37

BPI 69

BPI 88

 

Total number of households living in temporary accommodation

The percentage of customers who have a Housing Support Plan agreed
The percentage of Housing Needs Register applications assessed within
35 days
The number of households with children who are living in hotel
accommodation for more than six weeks
The number of rough sleepers

 

Council tenant arrears as a percentage of rent debit

% of total housing rent collected year to date

 

The average void property re-let time in days for normal general needs
housing (YTD)
Percentage of customers satisfied with the way their anti-social
behaviour case was handled

Average void relet time (days) for 'Major' voids

 

There are currently 146 households in temporary accommodation. A strategy is in
place to reduce this number.
Target was not achieved (89%) but it is anticipated this will improve from Q3.
Of the 156 applications received 67 have been processed and all have been within
the 35 day target.
No households with dependent children (families) in hotels beyond 6 weeks

The number of known rough sleepers is 2 who have been evicted from all current
projects and are extremely hard to place. Options continue to be investigated,
including exploring solutions used by other districts for placing customers with
challenging and complex needs.
 

Arrears performance currently stands at 2.20%. This is within target but in an
increase from Q2 last year however a decrease from 2 years ago. Residents are
advising us that they are being affected by the cost-of-living increases and we are
monitoring these closely. We have seen an increase in court action in Qtr 2 moving
into qtr3 and expect this to continue. No evictions were carried out in Qtr 2,
however our largest arrears case with an eviction date cleared their arrears in full.
This shows the importance of taking the necessary steps.
Collection performance stands at 98.20% against a target of 100%. This is below
target and there has been an increase in new cases due to cost of living increases.
The Council continue to work with our residents and give support where it is
necessary.
 

Sustainable improvement is anticipated in Q3/Q4 once the new contract is
embedded.
Out of 6 surveys returned for the period, 5 respondents were satisfied with the case
handling. one responded felt that we should not close the case although there
were no further actions to be taken.
With the change in contractor there has been a delay on some void properties
being processed to avoid them being incomplete at the contract changeover date.
This has invariably led to a delay on works progressing and has pushed the major
void relet time slightly out of target. It is expected that this will improve by Q4.

 

100

95
95

0

0

 

2

100

 

18

80

45

 

146.0

94.0
91.9

0.0

0.0

 

1.9

102.8

 

22.0

100.0

36.9

 

146.0

89.0
81.7

0.0

2.0

 

2.2

98.2

 

22.5

83.3

52.4

 

146.0

91.6
81.7

0.0

2.0

 

2.2

98.2

 

22.2

90.9

44.6

 

89

99
81

0

0

 

2

102

 

25

100

45

P
age 29



BusinessUnit

 

KPI Description Latest Note Target Q1 Q2 YTD Last
Year

Housing Repairs
BPI 109

BPI 31

BPI 33

BPI 66

 
Percentage Voids returned on time by contractor

The percentage of housing repairs where the work is completed right
first time

The percentage of tenants satisfied overall with the repairs service

The percentage of all responsive repairs completed in target

 
Some voids were not completed on time due to the changeover between Housing
Maintenance and Repairs contractors.  
 
The Morgan Sindall contract started on the 1st October and 17 voids were handed
over to be completed. Morgan Sindall continue to successfully mobilise this major
contract and it is anticipated performance will increase from Q3.
The new Maintenance and Repairs contract started on the 1st October. The Council
continue to work closely with Morgan Sindall to successfully mobilise this major
contract and it is anticipated performance will increase from Q3.
There has been no data gathered in this period due to the changeover between
Housing Maintenance and Repairs contractors. Satisfaction data will be reported
from Q3 onwards.
The new Maintenance and Repairs contract started on 1st October. The Council
continue to work closely with Morgan Sindall to successfully mobilise this major
contract and it is anticipated performance will increase from Q3.

 
80

90

85

95

 
30.1

79.6

0.0

82.3

 
7.8

59.1

0.0

82.3

 
7.8

69.7

0.0

82.3

 
 

94

83

95

P
age 30



Classification: Unrestricted 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

Main author: Elliott Manzie  
Executive Member: Cllr Fiona Thomson 
Wards: All 

 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL  
CABINET HOUSING PANEL – 26 JANUARY 2023  
REPORT OF THE SERVICE DIRECTOR (PROPERTY MAINTENANCE AND CLIMATE CHANGE)   
 
HOUSING COMPLIANCE AND BUILDING SAFETY REGULATIONS UPDATE  
 
1 Executive Summary 

 

1.1 The purpose of this report is to provide an update to Members of the Cabinet Housing Panel 
on the Housing Compliance position, and;  
 

1.2 To brief Members on the Council’s preparedness for the implication of new Fire Safety and 
Building Safety Regulations. 
 

 

2 Recommendation(s) 
 

2.1 Members of Cabinet Housing Panel are asked to note the content of this report. 
 

3 Performance  
 

3.1 This report follows on from the update given to the Cabinet Housing Panel on 24th October 
2022 and this report sets out the Compliance Position as at 11th January 2023. 
 

3.2 Fire – The completion of fire risk assessments is 100% compliant. We have completed a 
rolling programme of Fire Risk Assessments (FRAs) to ensure this area stays compliant.  

There was a total of 239 high risk actions resulting from the FRA’s. 227 have been 
completed. The remaining 10 are fire doors which have been surveyed and ordered and 2 
are surveys in loft spaces where access is required. There has been some no access in this 
area for which we are following the access process.  

There were 1581 medium risk actions. 1286 have been completed and there is a programme 
in place for the remaining. 

3.3 Water – This area is 100% compliant and we have completed a rolling programme of reviews 
to be completed. 

3.4 Asbestos – This area is 100% compliant. The 2022/2023 programme is well underway and 
moving forward smoothly.  

3.5 Electricity –The communal blocks programme is 100% compliant. The 5-year rolling 
programme is being followed.  

The domestic testing is 99.1% compliant and there are still a number of ‘no access’ to 
properties. We have managed to bring the no access numbers down to 76 properties. We 
will continue to attempt to gain access to these properties to ensure they are completed.  

3.6 Gas - This area has two parts, domestic (dwellings) and communal (blocks). The communal 
blocks are 100% compliant and the domestic is 99.98% compliant with two properties 
outstanding due to access issues which we are following the process to complete.  

Page 31

Agenda Item 9



Classification: Unrestricted 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

3.7 Lift – This area continues to be 100% compliant. 

3.8 We have completed rolling programmes for all areas of compliance which will mean we will 
complete some assessments, surveys and tests slightly earlier than required over the next 
year to ensure we have a smooth programme each year.  

3.9 The Regulator of Social Housing wrote to the Chief Executive on 17 January 2023 confirming 
that the Regulatory Notice will be removed on 25 January 2023 following the recent period of 
engagement satisfactorily addressing the areas of non-compliance. A copy of the letter is 
attached as an appendix to this report.  The Council’s website has been updated.  

4 Building Safety and Fire Safety Legislation Update 

4.1 Following the tragedy at Grenfell Tower in London in 2017, the Government continues to 
strengthen legislation around building and fire safety.  There are two new important pieces of 
legislation that come into force in 2023 which will have an impact on the Council.  They are: 
 

• Building Safety Act 2022, and 

• Fire Safety (England) Regulations 2022 
 

4.2 The paragraphs below summaries the legislation and the work the Council is doing to 
comply. 
 

4.3 Building Safety Act 2022 
 

            In summary:  
  

• Applies to new or existing occupied buildings with a particular emphasis on buildings 
over 18 metres high or seven storeys or more, which contain at least two residential 
units. The design, refurbishment and construction requirements also apply to care 
homes and hospitals meeting the same height threshold. 

 

• Creates a universal change in responsibility and culture within the building industry. 
 

• Establishes a more effective regulatory and responsibility framework for the 
construction industry and introduces clearer standards and guidance. 

 

• Puts residents at the heart of a new system of Building Safety. 
 

• Clarifies who has responsibility for Fire and Building Safety throughout the life cycle of 
a higher risk building. 

 

• The provision for regulations in relation to construction products. 
 
 

Introduces a new regulator with 3 main functions:  
 

• To oversee the safety and standards for all buildings. This will be done through 
overseeing the performance of building control bodies across the public and private 
sectors, and by understanding and advising on existing and emerging building 
standards and safety risks. 

• Encourage increased competence by setting the direction of an industry-led 
competence committee and establishing competence requirements for registration of 
building control professionals. 

Page 32



Classification: Unrestricted 

Classification: Unrestricted 

• Lead the implementation of the new regulatory regime for higher-risk buildings,
including having the powers to involve other teams, including the Fire Service, when
making regulatory decisions regarding Building Safety.

Council’s Position: 

• The Council owns the freehold of two high rise buildings in scope of the regulations 
which come into force in April 2023.

• Queensway House, Hatfield is currently in the process of being de commissioned with 
all the tenanted flats and many of the leased flats empty. We are in discussions with 
the remaining leaseholders.  If the building remains occupied it will need to be 
registered with the Regulator within the relevant timescale and the other relevant 
requirements will need to be met. Interim safety controls are in place including ‘waking 
watch’ and dialogue continues with the fire service.

• The other building is Goldings House, Hatfield which is under the management of 
Paradigm Housing.  The Council owns the freehold but the flat tenancies are with 
Paradigm. On the basis of this Paradigm have been asked for a copy of their plan for 
complying with the new legislation. 

  4.4   Fire Safety (England) Regulations 2022 

   In summary: 

• Duties that apply to all buildings regardless of height:

- Provide relevant fire safety instructions to their residents on how to report a fire and
what a resident must do once a fire has occurred and information relating to the
importance of fire doors in fire safety.

• Residential buildings over 11m (typically 4 storey):

- To undertake best endeavours to check annually flat entrance doors and quarterly
checks on communal fire doors.

• Residential buildings of 18m (or 7 storeys) and above:

- Install and maintain secure information boxes. They must contain the name and
contact details of the responsible person and hard copies of the building floor plans.

- Provide the local fire & rescue service with information about the design of and
materials used in the building, the level of risk and any mitigating steps taken.

- Provide their local fire & rescue service with up-to-date building floor plans by
electronic means and to place a hard copy of these plans, along with a single page
building plan that identifies key firefighting equipment, in the secure information box
on site.

- Undertake monthly checks on the operation of lifts intended for use by firefighters,
and evacuation lifts in their buildings and check the functionality of other key pieces
of firefighting equipment. Additionally, where any equipment is identified to be

Page 33



Classification: Unrestricted 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

defective it will need to be reported to the local fire & rescue service as soon as 
possible if the fault cannot be fixed within 24 hours. These checks will need to be 
recorded and made available to residents.  

 
- Install wayfinding signage visible in low light or smoky conditions that identifies flat 

and floor numbers in the stairwells. 

 
Council’s Position: 

 

The Council has prepared and has the following in place in preparation for the new legislation that 
comes into force on 23 January 2023: 

 

• Duties that apply to all buildings regardless of height  
- Signage has been installed in all multi occupied residential buildings (HRA and 

General Fund).  A process of annual review and briefing new residents is being 
introduced. 

- Provide information relating to the importance of fire doors in fire safety is being 
introduced. 
 

• Residential buildings over 11m (typically 4 storey):  
- A programme is being developed to complete annual checks on flat entrance doors 

to 28 buildings (HRA and General Fund) in scope of the legislation and quarterly 
checks on fire doors in common areas. 
 

• Residential buildings of 18m (or 7 storeys) and above: 
- Install and maintain a secure information box to Queensway House. This is in 

place.  
- Give information to local fire service and building plans. The fire service have been 

kept up to date with Queensway House.  
- Check lifts monthly at Queensway House. This is in place. 

 
 
Implications 

4.5 Legal Implication(s) 

4.6 There is potential for further regulatory action if the Council does not evidence compliance. The 
Regulator will have various enforcement powers, including to authorise remedial works and the 
replacement of key officers. 

5. Financial Implication(s) 

5.1     There are no direct financial implications arising from the recommendations at this time as all 
compliance matters are included in existing compliance budgets.   

6. Risk Management Implication(s)  

6.1 There is potential for reputational damage if the Council does not remain in a compliant position.  
 
7. Communication 
 
7.1 We have regular communications and engagement meetings with the Regulator of Social 

Housing to ensure the progress required is completed.  These have now concluded.  

Page 34



Classification: Unrestricted 

Classification: Unrestricted 

 

 

 
7.2     We have continued to update the website with information on the compliance position (this has 

now been removed following the letter from RSH) and we are actively communicating with 
residents when works are being completed within their home or communal block. 

 
7.3      We have a dedicated email address for tenants to contact if they have any questions or 

concerns relating to any of the compliance areas.  
 
8. Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no security and terrorism implications arising from this report. 

9. Procurement Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no procurement implications arising from this report. 

10 Climate Change Implication(s) 

10.1 There are no Climate Change implications arising from this report. 

11. Human Resources Implication(s) 

11.1 There are no HR implications arising from this report. 

12. Health and Wellbeing Implication(s) 

12.1  There are no Health and Wellbeing implications arising from this report. 

13. Link to Corporate Priorities 

13.1 The subject of this report is linked to the following Council’s Corporate Priorities ‘Our Housing’ 
specifically to Improving Housing Need in the Borough. 

14. Equalities and Diversity 

14.1 An EqIA was not completed because this report does not propose changes to existing service-
related policies or the development of new service-related policies. 

 
Name of authors: Elliott Manzie  
 Service Manager (Housing Repairs and Building Safety)  
  
 
 Ian Hancock  
 Service Director (Property Maintenance and Climate Change) 

                                                         

Date: 18th January 2023 
 
 
 
Appendices: 

 
Appendix A – RSH letter to WHBC 17 January 2023 

 
 

Page 35



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
The address for service of any 

legal documents on RSH is: 

Level 1A, City Tower, Piccadilly Plaza, 

Manchester M1 4BT 

OFFICIAL  

 Regulator of Social Housing 

Fry Building 

Marsham Street 

London SW1P 4DF 

 

T: 0300 124 5225 

E: enquiries@rsh.gov.uk 

W: www.gov.uk/rsh 

 

Ms Ka Ng          17 January 2023 

Chief Executive 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council  

 

 

Sent by email to: k.ng@welhat.gov.uk  

  

Copied to: 

Elliott Manzie: e.manzie@welhat.gov.uk  

  

 

 

Dear Ka 

 

Welwyn Hatfield Borough Council’s compliance with the regulatory standards   

 

I refer to our ongoing engagement with the Council following the regulator’s conclusions in July 2021 

that WHBC were non-compliant with our consumer standards. 

 

I am writing to confirm that we are content that the evidence provided by the Council throughout the 

period of our engagement satisfactorily addresses the areas of non-compliance which led to the 

publication of our regulatory notice. With that in mind, we will now move to remove the regulatory notice 

which set out the Council’s previous breach of the consumer standards. To confirm this is scheduled for 

Wednesday 25th January 2023. 

 

In the meantime, I wanted to record my sincere thanks to you and Elliott for the positive and 

constructive engagement we have had throughout the period of our engagement and for your 

transparency and openness as this case has progressed. Lastly, you are welcome to share the 

contents of this letter as confirmation of our conclusion in advance of the removal of the regulatory 

notice from our website. 

 

If you have any questions or it would be helpful to discuss, please do not hesitate to contact me. 

 

Yours sincerely 

 
Jessica Guandalini 

Senior Advisor, Consumer Regulation  

Page 37

mailto:enquiries@rsh.gov.uk
http://www.gov.uk/rsh
mailto:k.ng@welhat.gov.uk
mailto:e.manzie@welhat.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



CABINET HOUSING PANEL MEETING REPORT TRACKER 2022/2023 

DATE OF MEETING  REPORTS  REPORT AUTHORS 

 
26 January 2023 
 
 

 Performance Report for Housing Q2 (KPIs) 

 Empty Homes Strategy 

 Compliance update incl. Building Safety Legislation update 

 Update on current Affordable Housing Programme  

 Now Housing update 

 Work Programme 

Ian Hancock, Chris Barnes, and Sue McDaid 
Jo Smith 
Elliott Manzie 
Harvinder Sarohi-Parhar 
Richard Baker 
Clair Francis 

 
13 March 2023 
 
 

 Performance Report for Housing Q3 (KPIs) 

 Compliance Update 

 PAL Scheme 

 Control Centre Procurement 

 New Tenancy Terms and Conditions 

 Tenancy Strategy 

 Work Programme 

Ian Hancock, Chris Barnes, and Sue McDaid 
Elliott Manzie 
Jo Smith 
Sue McDaid / Kirsten Roberts 
Kerry Clifford  
Kerry Clifford 
Clair Francis 

 

P
age 39

A
genda Item

 10



T
his page is intentionally left blank



Part I 
Item No:  
Main author: Richard Baker 
Executive Member: Cllr Fiona Thomson 
All Wards 

 
WELWYN HATFIELD BOROUGH COUNCIL 
CABINET HOUSING PANEL – 26 JANUARY 2023 
REPORT OF THE EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR (FINANCE & TRANSFORMATION) 

NOW HOUSING LIMITED UPDATE 

1 Executive Summary 

1.1 This report presents an update on the difficulties which Now Housing Limited (Now 
Housing) is currently experiencing as a result of matters such as increases in 
construction costs, wider inflationary pressures and limitations on its ability to raise 
rents. In addition, the report presents an update on the implications for Now 
Housing Limited of proposed legislative changes and explains how these will 
increase the challenges which the company is already facing, such that it will not 
be able to reach a stage where it is able to trade profitably.  

2 Recommendation(s) 

2.1 That Cabinet Housing Panel note the update and recommend to Cabinet the Exit 
Strategy for the company.   

3 Background 

Minimum Revenue Provision Consultation 

3.1 In November 2021, the government commenced a consultation on changes to the 
calculation of the Minimum Revenue Provision (MRP). 

3.2 The MRP is an annual charge that the Council must make to its General Fund, to 
finance the cost associated with Capital projects. It represents a prudent charge to 
ensure that borrowing is affordable in the longer term, and the funds generated 
from this charge can only be used towards reduction of borrowing or new capital 
projects.  

3.3 The proposed changes were caused by the level of risks that some authorities had 
been entering into with subsidiary companies, without demonstrating any ability to 
repay loans. 

3.4 The newly proposed legislation, as originally drafted, would have meant that the 
Council would have needed to charge MRP on loans to third parties, even if a third 
party was making payments to reduce the principal of the loan. This in turn would 
have meant that the Council would have needed to increase the interest charges 
to Now Housing to ensure these additional costs were covered.   

3.5 A large number of Councils responded to the consultation, and the Government 
amended the proposed legislation to allow an MRP charge not be to made on third 
party loans if three conditions were met.  

3.6 One of these conditions is that the Council must charge to its Revenue Account, 
an expected amount of credit losses. Credit losses are notionally calculated based 
on market conditions, performance of similar companies and on the trading 
position of a company. Due to the fact the company is not yet in a profitable trading 

Page 41

Agenda Item 11



position, it is anticipated the calculation could lead to a significant charge to the 
General Fund.  

3.7 Whilst, as a result of the changes which have been made, the impact would not be 
as large as with the previously proposed legislation, it could still be in the millions 
if the company were able to reach the trading levels previously forecast, where 
over £100m of loans would be issued by the Council.  

3.8 Such costs would need to be passed onto the company through increasing the 
interest charges on new loans.  

3.9 Whilst this legislation has not yet come into force as the Government is considering 
the responses from the second consultation, implementation is considered to be 
highly likely and these potential risks must be considered alongside the other 
factors already impacting on the company.  

Now Housing - Update 

3.10 There are several factors currently impacting on the company’s ability to deliver 
homes at the pace originally assumed in the business plan, all linked to site 
viability. 

3.11 Construction costs have been increasing significantly. Whilst these costs have 
been increasing, the company is limited in its ability to raise rents, as these are 
capped at Local Housing Allowance levels. This has made the identification of new 
schemes more and more challenging over the last two years.  

3.12 This has been further compounded in the current year, due to wider inflationary 
pressures, including more recently, significant increases in borrowing, labour and 
construction costs.  

3.13 Since the first site was delivered in December 2020, which delivered 12 homes for 
the company, the team have been unable to identify any further schemes which 
would be viable. The viability gap on schemes has become increasingly wider as 
inflationary pressures and interest rates have continued to rise.  

3.14 The company is currently in a loss-making position, and it was previously expected 
that it would not move into a profitable position until the company had a stock of 
between 40 and 50 units. With no schemes currently identified it could be some 
time before this is achieved, if at all. 

3.15 Taking these factors into account, if the MRP legislation does come into force, it 
will increase the expected credit losses, and therefore will mean the council would 
have to increase loan rates to the company. This in turn would further increase the 
challenges the company would have in identifying viable sites.  

3.16 Given the current loss-making position, challenges of identifying further viable sites 
and the potential of the draft legislation being introduced, it is recommended that 
the Council look to close the company before losses accumulate to an 
unreasonable level.  

3.17 The Now Housing Board resolved, on 16th November 2022, that given the 
challenges in meeting its objectives as outlined in this paper, an exit strategy, by 
means of winding up Now Housing is recommended to Cabinet Housing Panel was 
in the best interests of its stakeholders and residents.  

Exit Strategy 

3.18 It is proposed, subject to tenant consultation, that the council purchase the 12 units 
from the Company at market value, and convert these to social housing. As 

Page 42



retained right to buy receipts were not used in the original construction, the council 
can utilise these receipts to fund up to 40% of the purchase. An alternative would 
be to dispose of the units on the open market or to a registered provider, but as 
there are shared facilities with the council owned block on the site, it is felt a 
transfer back to the Council is the best option. 

3.19 Tenancies of these properties would be converted from assured shorthold 
tenancies to secure tenancies at social rent, following a consultation period. These 
may be via flexible fixed term tenancies, or lifetime secure tenancies, in line with 
the councils policy at the point of acquisition.  

3.20 Whilst the company has accumulated losses, the properties have increased in 
value. Transactions between the company and the council will continue up to the 
point of transfer of the assets, as the Council continues to undertake work on behalf 
of the company. The purchase price will be determined by external valuers at the 
point of purchase, but it is expected that the increase in value will substantially 
cover the accumulated losses to date, and that any associated write offs will not 
be material. The company will be expected to complete tax returns for the 
consolidated position, including profit on disposal of the property. 

3.21 Once the transfer is complete, it will be proposed that the company be left dormant 
for three months, after which time it can apply to be closed following the period of 
dormancy.  

3.22 It will be recommended that authorisation to agree the asset transfer price, 
finalisation of accounts and any write on/off position, be delegated by Cabinet to 
the Executive Director (Finance and Transformation), in consultation with the 
Executive Member (Planning and Resources). 

3.23 Should consultation with tenants not be complete by the time the report is 
presented to Cabinet, it shall be recommended that the final decision on the exit 
strategy be delegated by Cabinet to the Leader, in consultation with the Executive 
Director (Finance and Transformation) and Chief Executive.  

Implications 

4 Legal Implication(s) 

Tenancies: 

4.1 Upon transfer of Now Housing’s housing units to the council, the tenants will cease 
to hold assured shorthold tenancies and will become secure tenants of the council 
(the basis of the tenancy agreement will be in line with the council policies at the 
point of transfer).  This is on the basis that: 

a) each housing unit is a dwelling-house which is let as a separate dwelling; 
b) the interest of the landlord will belong to a local authority (WHBC); 
c) each tenant will be: 

− an individual who occupies the dwelling-house as his only or principal 
home; or 

− joint tenants each of whom is an individual with at least one of them 
occupying the dwelling-house as his/her only or principal home; and 

d) none of the exceptions to secure tenancies will apply. 

4.2 The council’s tenancy agreement would need to be issued to each tenant, signed 
by the respective tenant and on behalf of the council. 

Page 43



4.3 As the council would acquire the properties at a time when those properties will 
have been affordable rent housing, the council would have a discretion to charge 
affordable rent, as provided for in the Regulator of Social Housing’s Rent Standard 
– April 2020, although it is proposed that these would move to social rent in line 
with all other council properties in the Housing Revenue Account.  

4.4 The Landlord and Tenant Act 1985 imposes a duty upon a new landlord - where 
the interest of the landlord under a tenancy of premises which consist of or include 
a dwelling is assigned – to give notice in writing of the assignment and of his name 
and address, to the tenant not later than the next day on which rents is payable 
under the tenancy or, if that is within two months of the assignment, the end of that 
period of two months. 

Removal of the company from the register: 

4.5 As referenced in paragraph 3.20, above, the right to apply to have Company has 
been dormant for a period of time. 

4.6 Now Housing Limited will be able to make application to the registrar of companies 
for the Company’s name to be struck off the register so long as, within the three 
months immediately before making the application, the Company has not: 

a) changed its name; 
b) traded or otherwise carried on business; 
c) disposed for value of property or rights that, immediately before ceasing 

to trade or carry on business, it held for the purpose of trading or 
otherwise carrying on business; 

d) engaged in any other activity (with certain exceptions); 
and provided that none of the circumstances, in which an application to strike off 
cannot be made, apply. 

4.7 Once the application is filed with the registrar of companies s/he will publish notice 
in the Gazette and allow at least two months to pass before s/he may strike the 
company’s name off the register. 

4.8 After a company’s name has been struck of the registrar and dissolved it is, in 
theory, possible for future claimants against the company to apply to restore the 
company to the register: (a) at any time if they have claims against it for personal 
injury; and (b) within 6 years of the dissolution for other types of claims.   

Consultation: 

4.9 Whilst there is not an express duty to consult, it would be prudent to consult in 
order to properly inform an equality impact assessment to demonstrate that the 
obligation to pay due regard to the council’s public sector equality duty (s149 
Equality Act 2010) has been met.  Consultation should be carried out with the 
tenants who will be affected by the winding up of the company.  The views of those 
who take part in the consultation must be taken into consideration when the 
Executive Member Decision is taken.   

Other Matters: 

4.10 In addition to the transfer of the properties from Now Housing Limited to the Council 
arrangements will need to be made to deal with, amongst other things: 

4.10.1 The existing loan agreement; 

4.10.2 Now Housing’s Tenancy Deposit Scheme; 

Page 44



4.10.3 The Service Level Agreement and the Shareholder Agreement; and 

4.10.4 The service contracts between Now Housing Limited and its directors. 

4.11 Subject to the matters which are set out in paragraph 4.6 (above) at the point at 
which the Company is ready to make application to the registrar of companies for 
the company’s name to be struck off the register, the following procedure will apply: 

4.11.1 The Company must give the following persons notice of the intention to submit an 
application for strike: 

a) a member of the company 
b) a director of the company (including de facto directors), other than those 

who have signed the application form 
c) a creditor of the company 
d) an employee of the company 
e) banks 
f) suppliers 
g) former employees if the company owes them money 
h) landlords or tenants 
i) guarantors 
j) personal injury claimants 
k) HMRC and DWP 
l) any directors who have not signed the form 

4.11.2 The Company must complete Form DS10 – striking off application by a company 
(the form includes a declaration that neither sections 1004 nor 1005 of the 
Companies Act 2006 prevents the application from being made); 

4.11.3 The completed form must be filed with the registrar, together with payment of the 
relevant fee (the application can be done online) 

4.11.4 Within seven (7) days from the day on which the application is made, the Company 
must give a copy of the application to every person who at any time on that day 
falls within any of the categories set out in paragraph 4.11.1 (above); 

4.11.5 There will be a continuing obligation on a director of the Company to send a copy 
of the application to any person who, after the application has been made, falls 
within any of the categories of people listed in paragraph 4.11.1 (above).  The 
director must deliver the copy within seven days of the recipient falling with the 
relevant category.  The duty continues until the application is finally dealt with or 
withdrawn.  It will be an offence not to serve notice as required and it will be an 
aggravated offence punishable by a term of imprisonment if the person’s failure to 
perform this duty is with the intention of concealing the application. 

4.11.6 On receipt of the application for voluntary strike off, Companies House will examine 
the form.  If it is acceptable Companies House will: 

a) register the information 
b) put it on the company’s public record 
c) send an acknowledgement to the address shown on the form 
d) notify the Company at its registered office address to enable it to object 
e) publish a notice in the Gazette: (a) stating that the registrar may exercise 

the power to strike off in relation to the Company; and (b) inviting any 
person to show cause why that should not be done.  

Page 45



4.11.7 Once the application has been registered the Company will technically still need to 
file documents, such as accounts; 

4.11.8 Any objections to the proposed strike off must be made in writing and sent to the 
registrar with any supporting evidence; 

4.11.9 If there is no reason to delay, the registrar will strike the Company’s name off the 
register not less than two months after the date of publication of the notice in the 
Gazette. 

4.11.10 The Registrar will publish a notice in the Gazette that the Company’s name has 
been struck off the register; 

4.11.11 The Company will be deemed to have been dissolved once the Registrar publishes 
a notice in the Gazette that the Company’s name has been struck off the register. 

5 Financial Implications 

5.1 Financial implications will be finalised as part of the valuation of the assets, and 
the company trading position will be finalised following assets being transferred.  

5.2 The company purchased the units for £2.1m and the current estimated value of 
the units are around £2.4m. The council can utilise right to buy receipts toward the 
purchase, up to 40% of the purchase price.  

5.3 An estimate has been undertaken to give an indicative value of the potential write. 
If the company were to dispose of the properties in December, using the last 
property valuation from March 2022, it would give a net accumulated profit/loss of 
around £120k.   

6 Human Resources Implication(s) 

6.1 There are no Human Resources implications as there are no staff employed by the 
company.  

7 Risk Management Implications 

7.1 There is a risk due to the increasing challenges in identifying viable sites, that if 
the company continues to trade that losses will continue to accumulate, and the 
company may see financial challenges in trading. This in turn could increase 
potential losses for the council. Having an exit plan from the company reduces this 
risk and seeks to minimise any potential losses.  

7.2 There is a reputational risk to the council associated with the closure of the 
company, however the factors that have led to the recommendations are highly 
unusual and unforeseen, providing clear rationale for the decision. Tenants of Now 
Housing will be consulted and a communications plan will be developed. 

8 Security & Terrorism Implication(s) 

8.1 There are no security & terrorism implications arising as a result of this report. 

9 Procurement Implication(s) 

9.1 There are no direct procurement implications arising as a result of this report. 

10 Climate Change Implication(s) 

10.1 There are no climate change implications arising as a result of this report. 

  

Page 46



11 Link to Corporate Priorities 

11.1 The subject of this report is linked to the Council’s Corporate Priority “Our Council”. 

12 Equality and Diversity 

12.1 An Equalities Impact Assessment (EqIA) was not completed because this report 
does not propose changes to existing service-related policies or the development 
of new service-related policies. 

13 Communication and Engagement 

13.1 The tenants of the company will be consulted in advance of the final decision.  In 
addition, further thought will be given to: (1) if/how the proposal is communicated 
to the stakeholders with whom the council engaged when the company was being 
set up; and (2) whether there is/are any existing policy(ies)/plans/strategies which 
reference the company and which will need to be revised and updated. 

14 Health and Wellbeing 

14.1 There are no health and wellbeing implications arising as a result of this report. 

 
Name of author Richard Baker 
Title Executive Director (Finance and Transformation) 
Date 4 January 2023 
 
 
 
 

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	6 EMPTY HOMES POLICY
	8) WHBC Empty Homes Policy - DRAFT v3
	8) Empty Homes EQiA

	8 PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR HOUSING Q2 (KPIs)
	10) Appendix 1 - Q2 202223 Performance

	9 COMPLIANCE UPDATE
	11) Appendix 1 - RSH letter to WHBC

	10 WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23
	11 NOW HOUSING UPDATE

